THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge
Trial Court Case No. 2016-CP-40-00164

Appellate Case No. 2017-001522

RECEIVED
MAR 14 2018
SC Court of Appeals

The Kitchen Planners, LLC,Appellant,

v.

Samuel E. Friedman and Jane Breyer Friedman and
Branch Banking and Trust,Respondents.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Jean P. Derrick
Post Office Box 929
Lexington, SC 29071
(803) 359-6189
jean@jeanpderricklaw.com
Attorney for Appellant

Other Counsel of Record:
Charles A. Krawczyk, Esquire
Finkel Law Firm, LLC
PO Box 1799
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 765-2935
ckrawczyk@finkellaw.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial Judge err in granting Respondents Summary Judgment?
 - A. The mechanic's lien and verified statement of account were timely served and filed.
 - B. Appellant furnished labor and materials used in the improvement of Respondents' residence.
 - C. The lien is claimed in the correct amount.
 - D. The action to foreclose the lien was timely commenced.
- II. Did the trial Judge err in denying Appellant's Motion to Strike?
- III. Did the trial Judge err in awarding attorneys' fees?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant The Kitchen Planners, LLC, filed a mechanic's lien supported by a verified statement of account for \$16,594.68 on November 12, 2015 with the Richland County Clerk of Court, seeking to collect the balance due on a contract between The Kitchen Planners, LLC and Respondents Sam and Jane Friedman to design their new kitchen and provide cabinets for it. The lien and verified account were served personally on Respondents Samuel E. Friedman and Jane Breyer Friedman November 17, 2015. Appellant filed a Complaint to foreclose the lien on January 13, 2016. Respondents answered, counterclaimed and filed a third-party claim against Crystal Cabinets, Inc. by amended pleading dated August 26, 2016. Appellant replied September 27, 2016.

Respondents Friedman filed a Motion to Dismiss Mechanic's Lien and Foreclosure on January 19, 2017, unsupported by affidavit.

Under cover of letter dated April 13, 2017 but postmarked April 14, 2017, Respondents served an affidavit of Samuel E. Friedman in connection with the upcoming hearing for the Motion to Dismiss scheduled for April 25, 2017. This was received by the attorney for Appellant April 17, 2017. Appellant served by mail April 18, 2017 her own affidavit as well as a Motion to Strike the Affidavit of Samuel E. Friedman.

At the hearing on the Motion to Dismiss, held April 25, 2017, the Honorable Robert E. Hood denied Appellant's Motion to Strike, converted the Motion to Dismiss to one for Summary Judgment, and issued his Order dated May 11, 2017 granting Respondents Summary Judgment. Judge Hood further issued an Order July 5, 2017 denying Appellant's motion to alter or amend.

A Notice of Appeal was timely served and filed on July 12, 2017.

FACTS

Patricia Comose, the sole member of Appellant The Kitchen Planners, LLC, entered into a written contract with Respondents Jane and Sam Friedman on March 16, 2015 to provide and install kitchen cabinetry pursuant to a design plan she would prepare. The total contract price was \$52,779.04, payable in three equal installments of \$16,594.68, due at the time of the order, shipment, and delivery. Respondent Jane Friedman approved the order March 16, 2015 and paid the initial installment. The second installment was paid May 14, 2015, when manufacturer Crystal Cabinets, Inc. shipped the order.

The cabinets were delivered by Kitchen Planners to the Friedmans June 20, 2016, and problems then arose between the parties. While the Respondents have repeatedly said that they wanted cabinets just like they had in their previous kitchen (which was destroyed by water damage from a broken pipe), in fact there were changes they made from the original design. [R pp. 127-128; 130]. There were instances also where Crystal Cabinets had ceased manufacturing the specific cabinet previously installed in the Respondents' original kitchen. [R p. 173, line 2 – p. 174, line 10]. In other instances, Jane Friedman had showed Patricia Comose a photograph of what she wanted, and the photograph itself did not illustrate all the interior details which Jane Friedman also wished, but not articulate to Patricia Comose. [R. p. 212, lines 8-24]. There were apparent manufacturing errors where, even though Patricia Comose had ordered from Crystal Cabinets cabinets with extra deep drawer space, when delivered, the drawers themselves were not the extra depth, although the cabinets themselves were. [R. p. 177, lines 7-22]. Respondents were also dissatisfied with some aspects of the cabinets, even though the cabinets were made according to specifications of their approved design. [R. p. 174, line 11, p. 177, line 6].

The Friedman's got a representative of Crystal Cabinets involved in the re-ordering process, although subsequently the cabinets ordered by the manufacturer's representative turned out to be the incorrect color. [R. p. 215, line 11-177]. In July and August of 2016 Patricia Comose continued contacting the manufacturer's representative and working with him in an effort to satisfy Respondents. The final work performed by Appellant on this project was September 29, 2015, when she re-ordered drawer boxes for the island cabinets, and sent Crystal Cabinets a check for \$550.61. [R. p. 164; 249-250; 96].

Appellant filed November 12, 2016 a mechanic's lien for the third installment payment due her, \$16,594.68, which lien and verified statement were personally served on Respondents November 17, 2016.

Appellant's Complaint to foreclose the lien was filed on January 13, 2016, and in their answer, counter-claim and cross-claim, as amended, Respondents generally denied the allegations of the complaint, and alleged, as affirmative defenses, accord and satisfaction, laches, mistake, payment, violation of S.C. Code Ann. §29-5-100 (1976) (asserting Appellant willfully and knowingly claimed more than due her, therefore invalidating the action), invalid lien, ("failing to adhere to the requirements of Title 29, Article 5 of the South Carolina Code of Laws"), and failure to state a cause of action, as well as counterclaiming against Appellant and cross-claiming against Third-Party Defendant Crystal Cabinets, Inc., asserting that Respondents had been without a kitchen for five months and had now paid \$40,000 to another contractor to have new cabinets constructed and installed.

Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss Mechanic's Lien and Foreclosure on January 19, 2017, unsupported by any affidavit.

The deposition of Patricia Comose was taken April 7, 2017. All through the deposition of Patricia Comose, Respondents' attorney repeatedly asked Mrs. Comose to agree that she had not returned to the Friedman residence since June 18, 2016, and she so agreed. [R pp. 93-103]. However she testified on Page 164 about her re-order of box drawers for the Respondents' kitchen island on September 29, 2015. [R. pp. 248-249].

On April 17, 2017, a week before the hearing on Respondents' Motion to Dismiss was scheduled for April 25, 2017, Appellant's counsel received the Affidavit of Samuel E. Friedman, which had been mailed (postmarked) April 14, although the certificate of service stated April 13, 2017. [R. pp. 38-42]. She served and filed her Motion to Strike the Affidavit the next day, April 18, 2017. She also served the Affidavit of Patricia Comose in opposition.

At the April 25, 2017 Motion Hearing, the Honorable Robert E. Hood denied Appellant's Motion to Strike the Friedman Affidavit, and, over Appellant's objection, converted the Motion to Dismiss hearing into one for Summary Judgment, which was subsequently granted. [R. p. 1]. Judge Hood also granted judgment against Appellant for

\$16,594.68 in attorneys' fees and costs. Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend was denied.
This appeal followed.

ARGUMENTS

I. Did the trial Judge err in granting Respondents Summary Judgment?

It is well settled that:

[T]he purpose of summary judgment is to expedite the disposition of cases not requiring the services of a fact finder...When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, this court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC; summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law...In determining whether a genuine issue of fact exists, the evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn from it must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party... Watson v. Underwood, 407 S.C. 443, 453, 756 S.E.2d 155, 160-161 (Ct.App. 2014) (citations omitted).

In the case at hand, there are ample material and genuine issues of fact, and the granting of summary judgment was clear error.

A. The mechanic's lien and verified statement of account were timely served and filed.

The mechanic's lien filed November 12, 2015 states that Appellant furnished materials and labor "beginning on or about March 11, 2015 through on or about August 18, 2015..." [R. p. 12]. Because the lien and statement of account were served on Respondents 91 days after August 18, 2015, it was their contention (with which the Judge ultimately agreed) that Appellant had failed to comply with S.C. Code Ann. §29-5-90 (1976), which requires that the lien be both served and filed within ninety days after the last work performed or materials supplied.

Discovery subsequently showed that Appellant was actually working on designing Respondents' kitchen beginning January 23, 2015 [R. p. 230], and ending when writing the last check for a reorder of island drawers on September 29, 2015 ([R. p. 164; 249; 250; 96]. The appealed Order ignores the September 29, 2015 work, documented by the check, erroneously:

The Court also reviewed the submissions of the parties regarding the evidence of when the last date that Plaintiff provided materials or labor to the Friedman's home. It is clear to the Court that no credible evidence exists to show that Plaintiff provided any materials or labor to the Friedman's home after August 18, 2015. Plaintiff's sworn deposition testimony stated

that the last date any material or labor was provided by KP was before June 18, 2015. Mrs. Comose, the only member/employee of KP, was deposed on April 7, 2017. In that deposition, Mrs. Comose stated that she furnished no materials or labor after June 18, 2015. Additionally, there is corroborating evidence in the form of e-mails and other documents that indicate KP was no longer providing services of material after that June 18, 2015 date. [R. p. 4; italics added)].

When Appellant, in support of her Motion to Alter or Amend, insisted that the Judge focus on the documentary evidence (in the form of the cancelled KP check) of her expending \$550 of Kitchen Planners' money in support of performance of its contractual duties, on September 29, 2015, the Order denying Plaintiff's Motion to Alter or Amend stated,

The Court found that the affidavit [of Patricia Comose] was not creditable as it was a self-serving statement which was in complete contradiction to all of the other evidence including the dates on the Lien, the e-mails between the parties and Ms. Comose's own sworn testimony that she provided no materials after June 18, 2015 and that Derrick Tackett had been fired from Friedman job by August 18, 2015 (the date given in the Lien). [R. p. 9; italics added].

It is not for the Judge here to make decisions concerning credibility. There is a clear genuine issue of fact on when the last labor and materials were furnished in the case, and documentary evidence supporting Appellant's contentions are in the Record. A jury needs to decide. The slight discrepancy in the date alleged in the lien, August 18, 2015, with the actual date of the last work, September 29, 2015, can be easily cured by amendment to conform to the proof, and the Order should be reversed.

Pleadings in mechanic's lien actions may be amended as in any other civil actions. S.C. Code Ann. §29-5-180 (1976). No inaccuracy in the Statement of Account invalidates the proceedings if the property can be reasonably recognized. S.C. Code Ann. §29-5-100 (1976). The error is plain and summary judgment should be reversed.

B. Appellant furnished labor and materials used in the improvement of Respondents' residence.

S.C. Code Ann. §29-5-10 (1976), requires that labor performed and materials furnished be actually used for improvements or repair of the residence.

The second basis for the granting of summary judgment is “that there is no question of material fact that the materials furnished by KP were never installed in the Friedman’s home...” [R. p. 4].

Again, there are genuine issues of material facts in the Record which prove Kitchen Planners’ labor and materials were utilized and installed and improved Respondents residence. Attached as the final three pages to Patricia Comose’s Affidavit is the estimate of Viggiano Remodeling, LLC, the contractor who ultimately finished Respondents’ kitchen. This estimate provides “all usable hardware and drawers from the existing Crystal Cabinets will be reflected as a credit in final price.” “[H]ardware and drawers” from the cabinetry is an expansive category of the product sold by the Appellant to Respondents. Materials furnished by Appellant were in fact installed in Respondents’ house.

As Appellant explained in her deposition, the entire cabinet order of Respondents was special ordered – these cabinets are unique to Respondents’ kitchen, and cannot be utilized anywhere else, except in the exact floor plan of the Respondents’ kitchen. [R. p. 180, lines 9-12]. The remainder of the cabinets not cannibalized by Viggiano are still with Respondents, who have apparently elected to install some, but not all, of the product. It was Respondents who refused to allow Appellant to install the cabinets [R. p. 222, lines 1-5] and Respondents should be estopped to complain and attempt to raise this technicality they themselves created.

Also, all of the labor under the contract has been performed by Appellant and used in the design of the kitchen, so, again, the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. §29-5-10 (1976) are met. Appellant was questioned closely and repeatedly throughout her deposition about how the contract price had been set, which was the wholesale cost she paid to Crystal Cabinets plus an industry-wide standard markup of 33%. [R. p. 239]. Although Appellant initially charged Respondents a \$500 design fee for her work, that design fee was allowed as a credit on the cabinet price. [R. pp. 129; 231]. However, Appellant literally spent hundreds of hours working with Respondents on their kitchen, without charging for her labor, which was in fact compensated by the 33% margin increase. [R. p. 147, lines 3-25; 239; 248].

Appellant is an interior decorator with over 25 years' experience, and a member of the American Society of Interior Designers. Her hourly rate is \$125, but in contracts where the customer buys the cabinets from her, she applies the industry standard markup of 33%, and, in addition, performs all necessary labor, including design, problem solving, supervising installation, re-ordering as needed and doing whatever else needs doing. A typical project lasts six weeks. [R. p. 151, line 13].

Respondents have paid the first two of the three installments due Appellant under the written contract between the parties. As Respondents' attorney pointed out in questioning Mrs. Comose, she in fact has now recovered her actual wholesale cost of the cabinets. [R. p. 221, lines 11-25]. However, unquestionably, Appellant has expended many hours in labor in designing and implementing the remodeling of Respondents' kitchen, and the balance of the contract price is due her is because of the labor she has expended as well as the expense of the cabinets. This is a genuine issue of fact, and summary judgment should not have been granted. The Trial Judge in his Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Alter or Amend noted the "Court finds Ms. Comose's affidavit unpersuasive and fails to establish a question of fact." [R. p. 9]. This is clear error.

C. The lien is claimed in the correct amount.

Respondents alleged in their sixth defense in their Answer a violation of S.C. Code Ann. §29-5-100 (1976), which provides in full:

No inaccuracy in such statement relating to the property to be covered by the lien, if the property can be easily recognized, or in stating the amount due for labor or materials shall invalidate the proceedings, unless it appears that the person filing the certificate has willfully and knowingly claimed more than is his due.

In this case, Respondents' attorney spent a good portion of his time for questioning Appellant at her deposition in establishing the wholesale price Appellant paid Crystal Cabinets, together with determining the other out of pocket expenses Appellant had incurred in the job, and in arguing that the two of the three installment payments Respondents have made constituted enough money to pay her. [R. pp. 147, line 13 – line 13, p. 151; p. 159, line 12-p. 170, line 22].

The trial judge in granting summary judgment on this basis stated:

In this case, Plaintiff testified that she already made a profit prior to filing the Lien. The terms of overhead and profit were not specified in the contract. The Lien is seeking solely overhead and profit. Ms. Comose understood this when she filed the Lien; therefore, she knowingly sought more than she was entitled. This action is in violation of S.C. Code Ann. Section 29-5-100. Therefore, the amount sought is not for materials used in the job, but for overhead and profit alone. The Court finds that there is no question of material fact that the Plaintiff willfully and knowingly claimed more than her due; therefore, the Lien should be dissolved, and the cause of action for foreclosure of the Lien dismissed with prejudice.

This statement by the Court in the Order granting summary judgment is palpably inaccurate. Uncontestably, there is a written contract between the parties which of course includes a profit margin for Appellant, and that contract has been fully performed on Appellant's end. [R. pp. 231-235].

The Order on Appeal cites the case of Zepa Construction, Inc. v. Randazzo, 357 S.C. 32, 591 S.E. 2d 29 (Ct.App. 2003). In Zepa, the parties entered into a written contract and the Plaintiff contractor commenced work, completing about \$10,000 worth of work before the termination of the contract, which contract was originally for a \$610,000 agreed price. The contractor was held entitled to a recovery of the value of his actual work, under the lien. In addition, he was allowed to retain the \$21,000 the owner previously paid contractor as part of a down payment, because the "deposit" was not associated with any labor performed. 357 S.C. 39, 591 S.E.2d 36.

The Court of Appeals recognized that this result was consistent with good contract law, citing decisions from prior jurisdictions:

[A] claim for lost profits arising from a breach of contract based on wrongful termination of the contract before construction is completed cannot be asserted as a mechanic's lien...357 S.C. 39, 591 S.E.2d 36. (emphasis added)

However, the Court of Appeals in Zepa also discussed the decision of the South Carolina Supreme Court in Sentry Engineering & Construction, Inc. v. Mariner's Cay Dev. Corporation, 287 S.C. 346, 338 S.E.2d 631 (1985).

Sentry affirmed summary judgment granted to allow the lien holder to foreclose its mechanic's lien based upon an arbitration award earlier entered, which included compensation for lost profits. The Court of Appeals in Zepa recognized that:

[T]he Supreme Court [in Sentry] expanded the items that are recoverable under the mechanic's lien statute to include overhead and profit. However, this holding is only available in the limited situation where the terms of overhead and profit are agreed upon by the parties and are subsequently embodied in a contract. 357 S.C. 37-38, 291 S.E.2d 34. (emphasis added)

Here, the contract between the parties has been completely executed and Appellant has fully performed. (The additional installation charge of \$2,995 specified in the contract is not included in the statement of account of the mechanic's lien, because Kitchen Planners did not actually install.) However, Appellant has fully performed all of her labor hours, and delivered to Respondents the unique product they purchased for their kitchen. This case is nothing more than a routine mechanic's lien foreclosure action to collect the balance due on a written contract, and it was error to grant summary judgment on the basis of a supposed violation of S.C. Code Ann. §29-5-100 (1976).

D. The action to foreclose the lien was timely commenced.

For the same reasons set forth in Argument I.(A) above, the suit for foreclosure was timely commenced on January 13, 2016, which is less than six months after the last work Appellant performed on September 29, 2015. See S.C. Code Ann. §29-5-120 (1976).

II. Appellant's Motion to Strike should have been granted.

The Motion to Dismiss Mechanic's Lien and Foreclosure served by Respondents in January 2017 was unsupported by any affidavit, and so unspecific as to be unintelligible. Specifically, the entire body of the Motion to Dismiss reads:

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