THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge
Trial Court Case No. 2016-CP-40-00164

Appellate Case No. 2017-001522

RECEIVED

MAR 29 2018

The Kitchen Planners, LLC, Appellant SC Court of Appeals

v.

Samuel E. Friedman and Jane Breyer Friedman
and Branch Banking and Trust, Respondents

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

Charles A. Krawczyk
SC Bar #: 16832
FINKEL LAW FIRM, L.L.C
1201 Main Street, Suite 1800
Post Office Box 1799
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 765-2935
(803) 252-0786 fax
ckrawczyk@finkellaw.com
Attorneys for Respondents

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

made to manufacture some question of fact in order to provide a date to save the untimely Lien and survive summary judgment. This is exactly what the Court determined in its Order. (R. p. 8, paragraph 1).

Even if the statements made in Ms. Comose's affidavit were accurate and taken at face value, it still does not create a new date for the filing under the Mechanic's Lien statute. S.C. Code § 29-5-90 requires that the lien be filed within 90 days of when the materials are *delivered*. There is nothing in the affidavit that indicates that any materials allegedly ordered on September 29, 2015 were ever *delivered* to Respondents' home. Ms. Comose could have ordered items and paid for items in September, however, unless those materials are actually delivered and become attached to the real estate they are not subject to a mechanic's lien (§ 29-5-90). The mere act of ordering materials and paying for them does not establish a new delivery date under the mechanic's lien statute. Otherwise any person could create a new lien date simply by walking to the local hardware store and buying something in the name of a property upon which their statutory lien date had run.

The evidence and testimony is clear. In order for the Lien to have been valid Appellant must have provided/delivered materials to the Respondents' home on or after August 19, 2015. By all evidence in this action the last date that any materials were delivered by Appellant was May 21, 2015. By all evidence in this action the last date that *any materials* were delivered by *anyone* in this action was August 10, 2015. Both of those dates precede the Deadline Date of August 19, 2015. Thus, the Court was correct in determining that the Lien must fail for being untimely filed and served and with it the foreclosure action must also fail.

b. None of the materials furnished by Appellant were actually used in construction of the home and are not affixed to the real estate and as such not subject to a lien.

Once the trial court determined that no question of fact existed to dispute that the Lien was untimely filed, and the foreclosure action associated with the Lien was no longer valid, there was no reason for the Court to go any further with its Order. If the Lien was untimely filed, the rest of the discussion is unnecessary. Yet the Order went on to find that the Lien was invalid for additional reasons. If this Court should determine that the trial court's ruling on the timeliness of the Lien should be reversed, then the Respondents would state that the other findings by the trial court would also independently support the dissolution of the Lien and dismissal of the foreclosure action.

The basis for a mechanic's lien is a debt due "for labor performed or furnished or for materials furnished and actually used in the erection, alteration, or repair of a building or structure upon real estate." S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-10. Section 29-5-10 is an extraordinary remedy created by statute and it requires strict compliance by the entity seeking to lien the property. In order to establish a mechanic's lien, it is generally necessary that the labor performed go into something which has attached to and become a part of the real estate, adding to the value thereof." *Tenny v. Anderson Water, Light & Power Co.*, 67 S.C. 11, 17, 45 S.E. 111, 113 (1903).

The cabinets ordered by the Kitchen Planners were never installed in Respondents' home. (R. 41, paragraph 6; R. 272, lines 16-19). In her brief Appellant cites to an estimate by a contractor Viggiano given to Respondents that indicated that some cabinets supplied by the Appellant *might* be used to save money. However, all the

evidence and testimony in the case indicates that this did not happen. The Respondents in their depositions were questioned about this and testified that none of the cabinets provided by Appellant were installed in the house. In her deposition, Jane Friedman was questioned about the materials supplied by Kitchen Planners. Her response was:

“The only thing that is in my kitchen now that was purchased by us directly from Crystal, we paid Crystal directly for the what I call corner cabinets that had Lazy Susans in them. That is the only two pieces.”

(R. p. 272, lines 16-19).

In his deposition Mr. Friedman also testified as to what was used in their home.

A:...“We ultimately did not use again anything but the boxes and Lazy Susans for those corner cabinets. We used none of the hinge hardware if you will. The pulls as I mentioned were purchased separately.

Q. When you say we used the boxes, you're talking about the actual cabinets?

A. Correct. Just those, the two Lazy Susan cabinets. The doors were not used.

(R. p. 270, lines 11-18).

As Ms. Friedman testified, the Lazy Susans cabinets being discussed were not provided by Appellant, but were provided directly from Crystal and paid for by the Respondents. This is confirmed by Ms. Comose's testimony that Respondents purchased cabinets directly from Crystal at cost. (R. p. 189, lines 22-24). The testimony from both Jane Friedman and Samuel Friedman is that none of the cabinets which are the subject of the Lien were used in their home. The cabinets are still sitting in the Respondents' garage. (R. p. 273, line 17). Appellant has provided no proof that any materials provided by Kitchen Planners were used. Thus, since the materials furnished were not “actually used” and such does not meet the requirements of S.C. Code Ann § 29-5-10 and should not be subject to the Lien. Appellant could have simply gone to the Respondents' home and taken them back.

In her brief, Appellant raises many tangential issues not associated with the mechanic's lien. For example, she raises the issues of the cabinets being special ordered and who refused to allow them to be installed (Appellant Brief 9-10). These issues may be germane to other causes of action, but not to the ultimate question of whether or not the cabinets are properly subject to a mechanic's lien. For that you must look to the statute that requires those materials to be attached to the real estate (S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-90).

In her Brief, Appellant raises several issues which were not raised in the pleadings, motion or the hearing. She raises issues about design fees, hourly rates, labor for supervision, design, problem solving and others. The Verified Statement of Account attached to the Lien stated that the Lien was for "cabinets for their remodeled kitchen" and that the money due was "exclusive of installation costs". (R. p. 14). The parties entered into a separate design contract for which Appellant was paid \$500. (R. p. 230). In responses to Interrogatories, Appellant indicated that the mechanic's lien was calculated upon the cost of the materials plus 33%. (R. p. 239; R. p. 151, lines 5-8). There has been no claim for any of the additional labor and time as raised in Appellants' brief. None of these issues were raised or argued before the trial court. Thus, it is improper for the Appellant to raise these defenses for the first time in the appeal. Even if they were timely raised, none of these issues have any bearing on whether the materials were ultimately installed on Respondents' home or if the Lien was timely filed.

Since the materials delivered by the Appellant were not attached to the real estate, the trial court was correct in vacating the Lien and dismissing the foreclosure cause of action.

c. Appellant has already been paid in excess of the value of the materials provided and is now solely seeking overhead and profit which is not subject to lien under the mechanic's lien statute.

Mechanic's liens are made for the contractor to protect the value of the cost of the materials and labor used on the project. Overhead and profit is not lienable unless the "terms of overhead and profit are agreed upon by the parties and are subsequently embodied within a contract". *Zepso Construction, Inc. v. Randazzo* 357 S.C. 32; 591 S.E.2d 29 (2003). In her deposition, Ms. Comose had indicated that all the materials were already paid for and that the Kitchen Planners had already made over \$4,000 in profit on Respondents prior to filing the lien.

Q: Provided the numbers I give you are correct you've made a little over \$4,000 in profit on this job? Well, just the cabinets?

A: Okay. Probably. Roughly. Roughly.

(R. p. 221, lines 17-20).

In this case, Appellant had already made a profit on the job and the amount of the profit was a highly guarded secret until disclosed in discovery. It certainly was not specifically set forth and itemized into the contract. The Lien is clearly seeking solely overhead and profit.

In her brief, Appellant cites the correct law but fails to properly apply it to this case. Properly applied to the facts of this case *Zepso*, stands for the proposition that overhead and profit are not proper for a mechanic's lien because the amount of overhead and profit was not specifically set forth in the terms of the Contract. The Contract merely states the total price for the cabinets. It does not set forth the amount of profit. It is

undisputed that Appellant has already made a profit on the sale of the cabinets to the Respondents. Thus, the entire amount of the Lien is composed of overhead and profit and thus improper. As such, the trial court was correct in vacating the Lien and dismissing the foreclosure cause of action.

d. The action to foreclose the lien was untimely filed.

For the same reasons set forth in Argument I (a) above, the suit for foreclosure was not timely filed. The last materials delivered to the Respondents' home was on May 21, 2015. The foreclosure suit was filed more than six months after the date that Appellant last provided materials to the home. In addition, if the Lien was not timely filed then the foreclosure action must also fail. As such, the trial court was correct in vacating the Lien and dismissing the foreclosure cause of action.

II. The trial court did not err in not striking the Affidavit of Samuel Friedman.

Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment granted by the trial court was supported by an Affidavit of Samuel Friedman filed on April 13, 2017, and a Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment filed April 20, 2017. Prior to the hearing, Appellant filed a Motion to Strike the Affidavit of Samuel Friedman as not being timely filed (R. pp. 45-46) while simultaneously filing an Affidavit of Patricia Comose. The Court heard that Motion at the hearing of April 25, 2017, and denied the Motion in that Appellant received the Affidavit and was able to file a responsive affidavit in time for the hearing. (R. p. 57, lines 4-6).

It appears that Appellant may have improperly thought that the motion filed by Respondents was being filed in accordance with Rule 12(b)(6) because it had the words "motion to dismiss" in the title. In truth, the Motion was filed pursuant to South Carolina

Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 56 as was stated in the body of the Motion. (R. p. 37). The title was referring to the dismissal of the Lien and is only for reference. The body of the Motion and the subsequent memorandum was clearly seeking relief in the form of summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56. (R. pp. 37, 71). The trial court recognized this and properly applied the proper standard for a motion for summary judgment. At the hearing this was discussed, clarified with the Court, and the Court proceeded under Rule 56 without objection by Appellant. (R. p. 56, lines 13-25; R. p. 57, lines 1-11).

At the hearing, Appellant only objected to the timeliness of the Affidavit pursuant to S.C.R.C.P. 6. (R. p. 55, lines 18-25). Appellant did not object to the hearing as a motion for summary judgment pursuant to S.C.R.C.P. 56, nor did Appellant object to the use of any evidence being presented. Any appeal based upon the grounds that the hearing was converted from a motion to dismiss to a motion for summary judgment at the last minute or that the Judge improperly allowed evidence, (Appellant Brief p. 15) is improper as Appellant raised no objection to the trial court and such objections may not be raised for the first time on Appeal. Nonetheless, even though these arguments are not properly before this Court, Respondents will attempt to respond.

In her initial Brief, Appellant's argument over this portion of the Order is difficult to follow and as such Respondents have difficulty deciding how to respond. Appellant "objects" to: 1) the violation of basic rules of pleading by the last-minute conversion of the nonspecific Motion to Dismiss into a Motion for Summary Judgment; and 2) Objects to every affidavit and evidentiary exhibit Respondents utilized in support of the Motion to Dismiss. Even if it were timely raised, Appellant cites no authority or rule, which would support her objections to the Court's actions.

The only response Respondents can make to Appellant's "objections" appears to be to point out that the Motion was filed pursuant to Rule 56. In determining a Rule 56 Motion, the Court may look to the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file together with any affidavits, if any to determine if there is any genuine issue of material fact in order to grant or deny a motion for summary judgment.

III. Did the trial judge err in awarding attorneys' fees?

Appellant requests that the attorney fee award be reversed for two reasons. The first reason is because the granting of summary judgment in favor of Respondents should be reversed. It is axiomatic that the award of attorneys' fees under the Mechanic's Lien statute would not be proper at this juncture unless the Court's Order for Summary Judgment is upheld. Respondents believe that the trial court's decision was proper and as such the granting of attorneys' fees is proper.

South Carolina Code Ann. § 29-5-20(a) states, "[i]f the party defending against the lien prevails, the defending party must be awarded costs of the action and a reasonable attorney's fee as determined by the court." "Ordinarily, the award of attorney fees lies within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion." *McElveen v. McElveen*, 332 S.C. 583, 601, 506 S.E.2d 1, 10 (Ct. App. 1998), *citing Cudd v. Arline*, 277 S.C. 236, 285 S.E.2d 881 (1981).

The second reason given by Appellant is that the amount of fees was not properly proven. In this argument Appellant does not take issue with the Court's method but with the claims of Respondents and the amount of fees accumulated for the services provided. Respondents provided an affidavit putting forth the basis for the fee demand. As an officer of the Court, counsel for Respondents swore that the amounts were accurate and correct. Appellant is the plaintiff in this action. Their filing of an untimely and improper

lien and foreclosure action associated with that lien necessitated the expenditure of all fees incurred by Respondents. Respondents have actually incurred fees in excess of those awarded by the Court and those fees continue to mount. (R. pp. 93-95). However, the Mechanics' Lien statute only authorizes attorney fees up to the amount of the Lien which in this instance is \$16,594.68 (29-5-20(a)).

Appellant takes issue with the amount of time devoted to the case by Respondents' Counsel. Appellant requested no documentation from Respondents' counsel before, at, or following the hearing. Despite the fact that an attorney's fee award is required by the Mechanic's Lien statute that Appellant sued on, and that an award was demanded by Respondents, Appellant failed to ask the Court or Respondents for any information or to cross examine counsel for Respondents on the issue of fees. Since Appellant did not raise this issue at the hearing, her argument as to the amount of fees or request for further documentation has been waived and is not properly before this court.

While counsel for Appellant may find it difficult to conceive how an attorney could expend almost 60 hours in this action based upon her own efforts to date, Respondents would respond that the time allotted by Respondents counsel was accurate and necessary for the defense of this action as set forth in the Affidavit of Attorney Fees. The litigation had been on going for 18 months at the time of the hearing. Respondents and Appellant produced hundreds of documents including e-mails, texts, invoices and others. The filing of the Lien and foreclosure action necessitated mandatory counterclaims and third-party claims. Respondents had to review for potential experts and damages claims. There was preparation, attendance and review of three depositions as well as the hearing necessary for the Motion for Summary Judgment. Additional fees

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